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IN THE UNITED STATE R%@EME}QT

FOR THE MIDDLE DIST ALABAMA

1005 MAR 12 P 12 59
ROXANNE REYNOLDS, RODNEY WARE,

1 w » HACKLTT CLK
and EDWARD “TYLEE MLLIAMS, DEBRA MNETI COURT Q!
JoDLE DISTR '
Plaintiffs, HIIDDLE DIS =
v COMPLAINT
JUDICIAL CORRECTION SERVICES, INC., o :
STEVEN RAYMOND, and CITY OF JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
CLANTON,
Defendants.
L PRELIMINARY STATEMENT _
1. This case is brought under the Racketeer Inﬂﬁenced and Corrupt Organizations

. Act (RICO) and other laws to stop the dcfendants%Judicial Correction Services, Inc.J(JCS);
Steven Raymond, a JCS employee; and the City of Clanton—from continuing to operate a
 racketeering énterprise that is extorting money from impoverished individuals under threat of jail
and from misusing the ¢riminal justice ‘sy's't,em and probation process for profit. The Plaintiffs—
three Clanton residents who have been harmed by Defendants’ actions—also seek t(‘)b'VOid the
contract between JCS and the City that is at the heart of the scheme. The Plainﬁffs seek damages
for the injuries they have suffered, including t;eble damages under RICO and punitive damages
to punish the Defendants and deter others from similar misconduct.

2. Plaintiffsl Roxanne Reynolds, Rodney Ware, and Edwafd “Tylee” Williams are
re_sidénts of 'Clja_ntqn-, Alabaﬁla. " During the times relevarit to this action, each had very limited

income, making it impossible for them to pay the finies and court costs assessed on tickets in the

Clanton ‘Municipal Court. Each was placed on “pay-only probation” with a private for-profit
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compaﬂy, Defendant JCS. Each was required by JCS to pay a monthly fee for JCS’s own profit,
in addition to payments owed to the municipal court. Each struggled mightily to ﬁay the
amounts der‘nanded, under répeated difect and indirect threats by JCS employees that if they did
not do so they would be incarcerated. T_heir ability to come up with the money varied—Ms,
Réynolds and Mr. Ware were ultimately able to do so by skipping meals, stopping paying other
bills, and taking out high-interest predatory loans, but Mr. Williamsv could not do so, and
ultimately was incarcerated and had to “sit out” in jail the amount he owed, receiving a credit of
| $50 for every day served. Neither J CS. nor the Court ever told Plaintiffs that they could request a
lower monthly payment; that they could requesf to have the .J CS monthly fee waived, or that the
amount they could legally be required to pay had to. correlate to their actual ability to pay.
Because of these intentional omissions, the Plaintiffs genuinely believed (and Mr. Williams
directly experienced) that if they failed to pay the money demanded, they would be incarcerated.

3. The actions of Defendant JCS and Raymond constitute racketeeﬁng under RICO.
They are part of a RICO “enterprise” comprised of them, the City of Clanton, and the Clanton
Municipal lCourt, with a common purpose of maximizing the collection of court fines, court
costs, and fees to JCS without consideration of the individual’s ability to pay. Tﬁrough this -
enterprise, Dcfendaﬁts JCS anle_aymo.nd extort pay-only probatiéner"S through th'e’threat of
incarceration to ensure that JCS receives its probation fees, in violation of the‘ RICO predicate
acts of extortion under the Hobbs Act, the Tfavelers Act, and Alabama law.. Defendants’ actions
further constitute abuse of proéess under Alabama law.

4. Defe;idant JCS facilitated this arrangement by negotiating a contract with
Defendant City of Clanton in 2009. This contract creates an exclusive franchise on behalf of

JCS to provide “probation” services to the Municipal Court, but was not publicly bid. The
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Alabama Constitution and the Alébama Competitive Bid Law require exclusive franchises to be
bid, and the contract is therefore Voici.

5. The contract between JCS and the City of Clanton is also illegal and void because
it is éon_trary to public policy. The contract ma_ndates that JCS shall collect a set-up fee of $10
and a monthly fee of $40 from every person pl:;}ced on probation with JCS, but Alabama i_aw
does not permit the coiléction of a fee for municipal court probation.

I.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6.  The Court has juﬁsdictior_l over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal
question jurisdiction) and 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c) (RICOj. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction
over the state law causes of action asserted in this Complaint pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367
because the state law claims form part of the same case or controversy as the federal law claims.

7. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because a substantial part of |
the events and omissions giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims occurred in this District.

} III. PARTIES

A. Plaintiffs

8. Plaintiff Roxanne Reynolds is a resident of Clanton, Alabama.

9. Plaintiff Rodney Ware is a resident of Clanton, Alabama.

10.  Plaintiff Edward “Tylee” Williams is a resident of Clanton, Alabama.

B. Defendants

11.  Defendant Judicial Correction Services, Inc. (JCS) is a foreign corporation
. principaﬂly located in Georgia. Defendant JCS is incorporated in Delaware. Defendant JCS is
and was doing business in Chilton County, Alabé.ma during all times relevant to this action,

pursuant to a contract with the City of Clanton to provide “probation™ services and to collect
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fees, fines, restitﬁtion, and costs for the Clanton Municipal Court.

12.  Defendant Steveﬁ Raymond is and was the Supervisor for J CS’s office that covers .
the jurisdiction of Clanton, Alabama during all times relevant to this action. In his role as
Supervisp_r; Defendant Raymond was instﬁime‘nt_al in devising, overseeing, and enforcing ..ICAS’s
policies at issue ini this action. Defendant Raymond is sued in his i_ndividual_ capacity.

13. Defendant City of Clanton is a municipal corporation located within Chilton
County, Alabama.

14.  Defendants JCS and Raymond are referred to collectively in this pleading as the
“Private Probation Defendants.” .

- 15. Defendants JCS and the City of Clanton are referred to c’ol_le‘ctivé_l_y in this

pleading as the “Contract Defendants.”

Iv. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A Struéture of RICO Scheme to Extort Persons Appearing in Clanton
~ Municipal Court by the Private Probation Defendants

i Background on Structure and Operation of the Clanton Municipal Court

16.° The Clanton Municipal Court has a s_i,ngl,c' part-time judge naimed John Hollis
Jackson, IIL

17.  The Clanton Municipal Court typiéally conducts judicial court proceedings one
day per week, on Tuesday afternoons.

18.  The Clanton Municipal Court’s judicial court proceedings are closed to the public.
To enter the court, a person is required to have a case or hearing in front of the Municipal Court
in order t§ enter into the courtroom. The City allegedly adopted a new policy on March 9, 2015,
to openy the Courthouse to the public when space was available, and to display an audio and

video stream of the courtroom in-an overflow area, but on March 10, 2015, none of these new
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policies were actually implemented.

19. = The Clanton Mﬁnjcipal Court was and is closed to the public pursuant to the
direction of Municipal Court J‘u_dge J z;_ckson.

20.  The Clanton Municipal Court’s judicial court proceedings are not recorded and
are not transcribed.

21.  The Clanton Municipal Couﬁ is authorized to hear cases involving city ordinance
‘violations, including traffic tickets and misdemeanors, which occur‘within the city’s police
jurisdiction.

22.  Defendant City of Clanton does not operate a municipal jail. It contracts for jail
" services from the Chilton County Sheriff’s Office. Individuals in the County Jail who have a

hearitig in Municipal Court generally are not transported to appear in person. They instead -

-appear in Municipal Court through a video display, while remaining physically within the jail.

il. Contract between Defendant JCS and Defendafit City of Clanton for “Pay-
Only Probation”. Services :

| 23.  Defendant JCS first contracted with Defendant City of Clanton on February 9,
2009. Under the cbntract, ICS collectslpayments of ﬁneé, costs, fees, and restitution assessed by
the Clanton Municipal Court, through the practice of “pay-only probation”—probation imposed
for the sole purpose of cdllecting fines and fees from those who cannot afford to pay in full.

| 24.  Defendant City of Clanton did not put out a request for bids or otherwise advertise
and solicit bids for probation services prior to executing the contract with Deféndant JCS in
2009. |

25. Defendant City of Clanton has not put out a request for bids or otherwise
advertised and solicited bids for probation services after executing the contract with Defendant

JCS in 2009. \
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26. | One pﬁblicly ‘stated purpdse of Defenda,nt‘ City of Clanton’s contract with
Defendant JCS was to reduce jail costs for the City of Clanton and allow the City’s Municipal
~ Court Judge the option to have defendants pay fines over a probationary period in lieu of being
placed in jail, |

27.  The contract provides that JCS’s services will be cost-free to Defendant City of
Clanton. Specifically, it provides that “JCS agrees that it will not invoice the City or Court for
its services. In consideration of the probation services provided by JCS, the Court agfees that
each Court Order shall provide for the following:

1. Probation fee‘of $40.00 per month flat .fee,. (Basic or inténsive supérvision)
2. One time probationer set-up fee of $10.00. .. .” |

28.  The contract is exclusive, p'roviding that “JCS will supervise all probated cases
sentenced by the Court.”

29. The contract states that “JCS will also supervise indigent cases when determined
by the Court. These cases will not be charged the standard probation fee, but will still be offeréd
aH JCS sefvic_es.’" | |

30. The contract aﬁt‘omatically renews each year unless one party gives notice prior to
30 days before the exp‘ir_ation date.

31.  Pursuant to this cdntract, JCS operates an office where persons assigned to report
" to JCS must meet with JCS staff. When the contract was initially negotiated with‘Clanton in
2009, JCS’s closest office was in Columbiana, which is over 25 miles away from Clanton, ‘In
. May 2011, JCS opened another office in Jemison, which is over'lll miles away from Clanton.
JCS presently operétes an office in the Clanton Municipal Court as well, but it requires persons

assigned to JCS to initially report to its office in Jemison (and before then, Columbiana), and
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almost always requires that persons continue reporting to these offices instead of that located -
within the Clanton Municipal Court building. ‘,

iii. Characterization of JCS staff as “Probation Officers”

32.  JCS employees refer to themselves, and are referred to by the Clanton Municipal
Court, as “Probation Officers” when communicating with Clanton Municipal Court defendants.
Neither JCS nor the Municipal Court discloses that JCS is a private for-profit company. |

33, JCS has a logo which is designed to appear like a law enforcement badge; this
logo appears on JCS business cards, receipts and paperwork given to pay-only probationers, and
on its sign outside of its offices.

34.  As described in greater detail below, JCS supervises Clantori Municipal Court
defendants pursuant to an “Order of Probation” entered in each case. |

35. JCS employees in fact do not perfonn functions typical-ly' assOciatéd with

probation officers. Specifically:

a. JCS employees are not authorized to carry weapons.
b. JCS employees are not authorized to make arrests.
c. JCS employees in Clanton do not perform typical probation-related

services, such as helping individualé seek social services, mbnitoring travel, and ensuring that
they com’ply with other probation conditions such as not committing any other crimes.

d. JCS employees do not provide services related to searching for a job or
preparing resumes. JCS does mhaintain a “Job Board” within its office, but it rarely has new
advertisements, and is sometimes empty, containing only a sign asking persons reportiig to JCS
to post jobs to the board if they know of any. |

| 36.' Collection of money is the primary duty of JCS employees. JCS employees use a
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computer system to track their cases and their woric, and their primary screen when they log into
the computer has measures that indicate the amount of money collected by that employee during
this month, the amount of money that cmplpyee shquld have collected on cases during this
month, the' employee’s progress toward her monthly goal, and the number of cases that have had

no payments in 40 days.

iv. Initial Adjudications in Clanton Municipal Court and Assignment to “Pay-
Only Probation” with JCS

37. " The pr‘acticé of the Clanton Municipal Court is very standard. When an
individual appears on a traffic ticket or misdemeanor and receives a_ﬁ adjudication that includes a
fine and/or court éosts, the Municipal Coﬁrt Judge’s practice is to ask whether the person wants
to pay today or be put on a payment plan.

38.  The Clanton Municipal Court Judge or other court staff asks the same question of
individuals whose cases have been dismiss;‘ed, nol prossed, of continued but who are required by
the court to pay court costs or restitﬁtion,, |

39. Community service is an option for some Clanton Municipal Court defendants,
but is not generally disclosed to defendants. Rather, if a defendant asks for community service,
the Municipal Court Judge will decide whether to gfant this request in lieu of paying the fine.

40. Clanton Muni_ciﬁa_l Court dcfehda_nts are not provided with appointed counsel
during most Municipal Court proceedings, particularly when the sentencé imposed does not
involve immediate incarceration.

41. The Clanton Municipal Court Judge does not inform defendants of their right to |
not be jailed if fﬁey cannot affofd to pay fhe fine, cbsts, fees, and restitution in whole or in part,

42.  Court costs in the Clanton Municipal Court vary depending on the crime, but are

often hundreds of dollars per charge or per traffic ticket.
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43,  The Clanton Municipal Court has a policy and practice of charging court costs on
each. ticket or charge, notwithstanding Alabama law providing that costs should generally be
charged only once per incident. It also routinely assesses court costs and fines above the
amounts out}ined in statute and in the Rules of Judicial Administration.

44.  If a Clanton Municipal Court defendant does not have the ability to pay the full
amount owed and therefore requests a payment plan, he or she is told to visit JCS’s office in the
courthouse. -

45.  The Clanton Municipal Court makes no effort to deterrhine the defendant’s
income, expenses, or the amount that the individual can afford to pay each month before sending
the individual to speak to JCS. -

46.  The service provided by JCS is referred to by the mum'cipal court and by JCS as
“probation.” |

V. Completion of the JCS-Created “Order of Probation” for Clanton
Municipal Court Defendants Assigned to Pay-Only Probation

47, JCS ‘ﬁlls out an “Ordér of Probation” for each Clanton Munic’ipa_l Cou_ft defendant
~ assigned to it. This Order of Probation fqrm is a standard document that was created by JCS.

48, Many terms in the Order of Probation are fixed and cannot be modified. These
include that the person assigned to JCS will:

a. “make a full and truthful report to your [JCS] Probation Officer as

instructed”;
b.  “pay Judicial Correction Services, Inc., $40 i'or each month on probation”;
c. “Pay a one time $10.00 file set up charge”;
d. “not change . . . residence or employment without first notifying [the JCS]

Probation Officer”;
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e.  “avoid injurious or vicious habits and not violate a‘riy law(s) during said
term of probation”; |
f. “work diligently at a lawful occupation, unless a full time student™; and
g “promptly and truthfully answer all inquiries . . . by . . . [a JCS] Probation
Officer and comply with all instructions he/she may give [the pe,r_s’o.n assigned to JCS].”
.49, Other pbrtions of the Order of Probation are completed by the JCS employee.

These include:

a. the length of the term of probation, which is always set to 24 months;
b the amount of money .t_o be paid per moith by the person put on probation;
and |
c. the first “appointment” at which time the person assigned to JCS must

“ report tb the JCS office in Jemison (and previously, Columbiana).
50.  In the Order of Probation, the JCS employee specifies an amount to be paid per
month by the pefson assigned to JCS. This amount is set by JCS policy as follows:
a. JCS unilaterally sets the amount owed each month without consulting with
the Clanton Municipal Court Judge;
b. JCS does not evaluate the individual’s ability to pay before completing the
Order of Probation and setting the monthly payment; and
c. The amount owed each month is based on a standard payment schedule for
the Jemison/Clariton JCS office. This standard minimum paymeit for that office is at ieast $140.
This standard mmunum payment includes the $40 monthly fee collected by JCS, and the
remainder is to be paid to the Clanton Munjcipal Court.

51, The Order of Probation further warns, in bold, that “You are subject to arrest

10
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for violation of any condition iniposed by this 6rde’r, and your probation may be revoked
accordingly.”

52.  The Order of Probation must be signed by the person assigned to JCS.

53. ‘The Municipal Court Judge generally never speaks fo persons assigned to JCS
about the terms of the Order of Probation, other than to tell them that they are going to be given a
“payment plan” with JCS.

54. JCS employees alsq request contact infomation for family, friends, and
employers of the pay-only probationers.

vi. Apportionment of Money Collected Between JCS and the Clanton

Muriicipal Court

55.  Pursuant to JCS policy, JCS retains $40 from each monthly payment of at least
$140, and it retains an extra $10 from the first payment for a set-up charge. The remainder is to
be pyaid to the Clanton Municipal Court. |
| 56.  Neither the contfact nor the Order of Probation specifies hov;f the money is to be
allocated if JCS accepts less than $140 from tile individual.

57.  Inpractice, if a person assigned to JCS pays less than $80, JCS retains at least half
of the amount to pay toward ICS’s monthly fee, and applies the remainder to pay toward the
person’s debt to the Clanton Municipal Court.

| 58.  The Clanton Municipal Court doés not have any way to audit the money collected
by JCS. JCS maintains records within its own system and provides a receipt to individuals who
make a payhient, but the Clanton Municipal Court is informed of the money it receives from JCS

only; the Court is never inforthed of the actial amount paid by the pay-only probationers.

vii.  Requirements to Report to JCS

59.  Individuals assigned to JCS must report to JCS -at least évery 30 days.

11
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60.  These meetings are in person, usually at the JCS office in Jemison' (foﬁneriy
Columbiana).

61.  The primary purbose of these meétings is to collect JCS’s fees and additional -
money for court costs and ﬁhes and to threaten individuals who are unable to péy enough money.

62.  In keeping with that primary purpose, JCS pe‘n_nité pay-only probati'onérs to send
someone else on their behalf to these meetings, so long as a sufficiently large payment is
received.

63. ’Ifan indivi_dualr falls behind on payfnents, that person is required to meet with JCS
in person, and often is required to meet with JCS weekly. Persons must meet with JCS more
than once a week if their payments are particularly small. During these meetings, they are
repeatedly told that they must payl‘more, a;ﬁd that they can be incarcerated if they dQ not do so.

64.  Individuals who iriform JCS that they canﬁot pay the amount required because
they are unemployed or Because they do not make enough money are told by JCS that this is not
a valid excuse. They are further told to come back next timme with the money owed, and are
thréatened with being incarcerated if they do not pay the amount demanded.

65.  Employees at JCS‘ will régularly telll persons under their supervision that they
‘must bnng money when they report, and that there is no point in showing up without any money.
Yet tﬁey will also note the person as having “missed” the appointment whe‘n they do not appear.

66.  When appointments bare missed, JCS employees regularly call all contacts li'sted
for the individual, including employers, emergency contacts, and family, to try to c'oierce the
person to come to JCS and to bring money. | |

67. When appointments are missed, JCS often will set multiple _appoi‘ntme‘n_ts on the

same day or within two days, without ensuring that the individual knows about these new

12
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appointments. JCS marks all of these new apbointments as “missed” in their records, which JCS
will then later report to the Clanton Municipal Court if JCS seeks to revoke probation.

68.  If a person ddés not appear, or does not make sufficient payments to satisfy JCS,
JCS employees Will prepare paperwork to revoke the probation.y

viii. Probation Revocation l;rocess

69.  When J CS initiates its revocation process, it t‘akes'.the following steps, pufsuant to
company policy.

70. The JCS employee sets a court revocation hearing date. This hearing date is
specified by JCS without the involvement of the Clénton Municipal Court, and the Municipal
Court is not informed that a heaﬁng Has been set. Rather, during every éoun date the Municipal
Court asks JCS if JCS has any cases to be heard that day; if JCS reports that it does, the case is
then called. This is the first time that the Mm]jcipal Court learns of the hearing.

71.  After setting a revocation heaﬁng date, JCS policy requires that thé JCS employee
is to send a letter to the individual by regular mail, though sometimcs this letter is given directly
to individuals when thesl are at the office reporting. The employee calculates the amount of JCS
fees owed and court fines and costs owed. This amouﬁt is reported in the letter sent or given to
the individual.

72. - This letter does not advise thé pay-only probationer that the ability to pay is a
critical issue in the proceeding. This letters does not instriict the indi‘vidual about what to do if
she is unable to pay. This letters does not inform the individual that she cannot be incarcerated if

she is unable to pay.

13
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73. The JCS employee is guthorize‘d by JCS to ne‘gdtiate with the individuai regarding
how much money to accept in order to caﬁcel the revocation hearing. In practice, this often
results in the hearing being cancelled as a result Qf a partial payment being received.

74. When the hearing is cancelled _Baécd on a payment from the pay-only pfobationer,
the Clanton Municipal Court is nevér informed about the hearing, and nothing is filed in the
court docket indicating that a probation revocation hearing had been set and was cancelled.

ix. Revocation Hearings

75.  If the pay-only probationer has not made a sufficient payment in.advance of the
'-hearing date and appears for the hearing, the JCS employee attempts to collect the amount
-outstanding or to negotiate a lower amount with the individual before the case is called. If this is,
unsuccessful, then the case is called in front of the Municipal Court Judge.

76.  During the hearing, JCS employees make no mention of any information that they
have learned from the individual about why she is unable to pay. The JCS employees's'imply
report thé amount of money sfill owed, and any other violations such as missed appoirvltment_s,
The JCS employees also reciuest that the person be taken off of JCS and “sit out” their fine in the
. County Jail.

77.  During the hearing, no i‘ndigenéy determination is conducted, and Municipal
Court Judge Jackson does not routinely inqpire into the person’s ability to pay. However, if a
person pleads a hardship, Judge Jackson will sometimes ‘fequire JCS to con;ider this, utilizing a
form referred to in this pleading as a “JCS Affidavit of Hardship” (described below). Judge
Jackson will sometimes then lower the monthly paymerit, but will typi‘cally still require the

person to continue paying JCS its $40 monthly fee.

78.  If the Municipal Court Judge decides to end probation, the Judge will often

14
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require that the individual serve time in the Chilton County Jail until the amount owed is paid
off, with the person being given a “credit” of $50 per day served toward the amount that is owed.
Thus, if a person owes $500, she will sefve 10 days in jail unless the person can arrange for
family or friends to pay the amount that is outstanding.

79.  If the individual doés not appear at the court hearing, the Municipal Court Judge
orders that an arrest warrant should issue. The arrest warrant, signed by a Magistrate, specifies a
cash bond of the amount owed (1n the above example, $500), and states that probation was
revoked. After arrest, officials at the jail will inform the person that,. if this bond is not paid in
cash, the person will serve time in jail until the amount owed is paid off, with the person
receiving a credit of $50 per day (in the above example, 10 days).

X. JCS Affidavits of Hardship

80.  The Jemison/Clanton JCS office possesses a document whereby the person on -
probation can request that her payment be lowered. This document will be referred to herein as
the “JCS Affidavit of Hardship.” |

81.  JCS does not generally inform pay-only probationers that the JCS Affidavit of
Hardshjp exists.

82.  JCS uses the JCS Affidavit of Hardship orﬂy when the JCS employee decides that
sufficient exigent circumstances exist to warrant its use or when ordered by the Municipal Court
Judge t0 use it.

83.  Pursuant to company policy, there are two categorical reasons to consider creating
a waiver for payments: If a' person is in the hospital for an extended period of time (referred to
as a “Medical Hold”), and if the person is incarcerated for more than 30 days (referred to as a

“Jail Hold”).

15
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84. .Per company policy, JCS does not consider unemployment, lack of income, or
mere sickness sufficient to justify using the JCS Affidavit of Hardship or to otherwise lower or
suspend one’s payments.

85. When individuals report to JCS that they have very small' or no income, JC'S'
employees do not advise individuals about the JCS Affidavit of Hardship, nor do they advise
individuals that they may be able to lower their payments or obtain a waiver of rﬁonthly fees.

86.  Individuals Who learned from others about the JCS Affidavit of Hardship and ask
for it, or who ask for a lower. monthly payment because they do not have sufficient income, are
told by JCS employees that this is not an option available to them.

B. Individual Plaintiffs’ Experiences

1.~ Plaintiff Roxanne Reynolds

87.  Plaintiff Roxanne Reynolds is a 49-year-old Caucasian woman who résides in
Clanton, Alabama. Ms. Reynolds has resided in Clanton since she was born, and started her own
family and raised three children in Clanton,

88.  Ms. Reynolds receivé’d tickets' for a burned out headlight, driving ‘without
insurance, and driving with a suspeqded license in late 2012. She was arrested on about
February 15, 2013, after missing hef original court dates on these tickets because she could not
get time off from a new job she had just started. Ms. Reynolds spent four days in the Chilton
County J a'ii before she was brought before Judge Jackson Qia videoconference on about February
19, 2013. |

89.  Ms. Reynolds did not have an attorney to represent her at this 'hearing, and .Judge

Jackson did not ask if she wanted an attorney to be appointed for her.

16
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90. She pled guilty to the traffic tickets and was fined $520, assessed $662 in court
costs, and received additional fees of $450 for her original failuré to appear. She receivéd no
credit for t_he days she spent in jail. Judge Jackson asked if she could pay the amount owed that
day, whiich -was $1632 totél, or if she wanted a paylﬁent plan. When Ms. Reynolds stated that
she was unable to pay, Judge Jackson told her that Dé‘fendant‘Ra.ymond, who was in the room
with her, would set up the payment plan. Judge Jackson did not ask about her ability to pay or
about how much she could afford each month, and did not offer ﬁer the option of community
service. J_udg‘é Jackson didl not discuss the terms of being assigned to ICs, did not eXplain that
the Order of Pr_oBation would require an additional monthly payment of $40 (plus an initial $10
set-up‘ fee) or eprain that she was being put on “probation.” Judge Jackson did not speak to Ms.
Reynolds again on that day. L

91.  Ms. Reynolds spoke with Defendant Raymond in another room in the jail.
Defendant Raymoﬁd told her that she was on probation and must bring $145 each month to
- JCS’s Jemison office. Defendant Raymond did not ‘ask Ms. Reynolds ‘anything about her
income, resources, or costs and expenses, and did not tell her that the monthly amount could be
set lower or that the fee could Be wéiye_d depending oﬁ her ability to pay.

92.  Defendant Raymond handed Ms. Reynolds a document that told her to report on
February 25, 2013, less than one week from that date, and that sh¢ must bring “rio less than $145
to be applied to your fines and fees.” Tt further stated that “Féilure tc; report as directed may
result in a warrant being iséiled for your arrest,” and that there were “NOi EXCUSES.”
(Emphasis in original). This document also warned, “Do_not contact the Municipal Court,
they will be unable to help you.” (Emphasis in original). |

93.  Ms. Reynolds struggled to make the appointments and payments set by JCS. The
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office was more tﬁan 25 minutes away from her house and more than 20 minutes from her work.
Her license had been suspended based on a mistake with her child support, but she was unable to
| pay the fees for reinstatement. She also did not have enough money’to pay for gas and her
ménthly ICS payments.

94. , Ms. Reynolds would éften have a friend go to JCS’s Jemison office to fn_ake
payments for her. This friend would ﬁse his own monéy to pay, and she would pay him back
what she could at a later date. |

95.  Ms. Reynolds was experiencing a gr’éa_t deal of physical pain during this time. A
few months after she was sentenced to probation with JCS, Ms. Reynolds was diagnosed with
multiple sclerosis. On her doctor’s orders, she was required to take time off from work to treat
this condition.

96.  Ms. Reynolds wo_’rkéd as an assembly technician, assembling automotive parts.
However, she often had to take sigriiﬁbant time off of wqu due to her continued pain and poor
health. She also had 25% of her wages garnished beginning in February 2013 due to a high-
interest car loan that she co-signed for her ex-husband many .years a’go’ and that he had stopped

paying. | | |

97. Ms. Reynolds could not légally drive herself to work because of her suspended
license. But there was no public transportation évai'lablé; Ms. Reynolds contacted the Chilton
County Transit system, but was told that there was a waiting list of ovef four months to reserve a
trip on their bus service. - She also could not afford to pay or consistently find other people to
give her a r’i&e. Thus, she often had to walk approxifnatély six miles to a major road, where she

could flag down her coworkers to give her rides to work. She missed work on a few occasions

when she could not get a ride.
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98. Desperate to try to raiSe more money, ‘Ms_. Reynolds even rented fooms in her
house to others. This proved disastrous, as the tenants failed to pay her and left her with a higher
utility bill. | |

99.  When she reported to the JCS office, Ms. Reynolds would wait in the waiting
room for often up to 20 mimité's i)efore being called back to speak with é JCS employee. The
meetings themselves were brief. She would hénd the employee her payment, and, if she had not
brought her full monthly payment, the JCS empléyee would tell her she had to bring more, and
give her another appointment within a week. |

100. Each time | she would bring a partial payment and Defendant Raymond was
present, he would tell her that she had to make her $145 payment or go back to court, where the
judge would send her to jail. |

101." Ms. Reynolds tried to send friends to report for her as much aé possible, because
of her difficulty in getting £o the office and because she was scared by Defendant Raymond’s
threats. As long as her friends were bringing sufficient money to JCS, JCS er’nployegs did not
object to this arrangement. |

102.  No JCS employee ever asked Ms. Reynolds any questions ébo_tit her life, her
financial situatiop, or why she was struggling to make any payments during these meetings.
When they asked her for more mone;', Ms. Reynolds tried to explain her health problems and
difficulty with transpo;tation to Defendant Raymond and the other prdbation officers. Defendant
Raymond would continue to threaten her and tell her that this was no excuse, because everyone
had health problems from time to time.

103. On Monday, January 20, 2014, Ms. Reynolds made a partial payment of $15, of

which $5 was applied to her JCS fees. She was $45 in arrears on JCS’s monthly probation fee.
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Defendant Raymond interrupted the meeting that Ms. Reynolds was having with Ms. Tonia
Hamby, a JCS employee. He read doWn the list of dates in Ms. Reynolds’ electronic file, noting
where she was a “no show” or where she made no payment or only a partial payment. Defendant
Raymond handed her a probation revocation letter while she was in the office stating that she
owed $767—8$722 to the Court, and $45 to JCS—and told her that she needed to bring at least
$150 by the end of that wee;k or else her probation would be revoked. Ms. Reynolds was crying
and again tried to explain her health condition. Defendant Raymond told her that he did not want
to hear about it, and told Ms. Hamby that they were going to “stop this ‘no money’ going on.”

104. The revocation paper that Ms. Reynolds was handed contained numerous
misstatements or omissions. It stated that she “has failed to report 12 of 12 set appointments and
has not made payments as ordered,” but failed to note that she had reported to the 'ofﬁce on many
times between the final twelve dates listed. Moreover, Ms. Reynolds received .no notice of most
of these appointments—many of which were only one or two days apart. The petition further
states that she ‘-‘hés not responded to calls or letters,” suggesting that she was being entirely non-
fesponsive, but failed to note that she was in the office when they created this letter and handed it
to her. The lettef said that her court date would be February 11, 2014, |

105. Ms. Reynolds was terrified of going back to jail, especially because of the risk of
losing her job and the paiﬁ she experienced while in jail last time due to her health condition.
She did not buy groceries and Barely ate that week to save up the money to pay by Friday, and
fell behind on other bills due that month. She made the $150 payment on Friday, of which JCS
tetained $45 to cover the probation fees in arrears and sent $105 to the Municipal Court.

106. After JCS received her money, JCS cancelled her February court date. No copy

of the revocation petition was eritered into her court file. The Municipal Court, however, entered
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an order in absentia modifying her probation on February 4, 2014, stating that Ms. Reynolds was
“now compliant,” but adding four days to her probation term, for a total of 24 months and 4
days. Neither the Municipal Court nor JCS informed Ms. Reynolds of this order nor the
extension of the probation term, which was entered in violation of the statutor_y limit of two years
for all probation terms in municipal court. See Ala. Code § 12-14-13(a).

107. Ms. Reynolds obtained three additional tickets during one traffic stop in 2014, for

"driving while her license was revoked, for failing to display insurance, and for an expired tag.
She was teﬁ‘iﬁed of adding more tickets and another two-year prob;ltion term to her current JCS
probétion, and thus brought almost her entire income tax refund to the Municipal Court to pay
off two of the_ tickets in February 2014. She ‘took out a high-iﬁterest lbén to pay the refnéiniﬁg
ticket two weeks later. |

108. After the incident in J é.nuary, Ms. Reynolds‘ had a friend take the next few |
payments to JCS because she was too scared to report. She stopped paying other bills and had
her pbwer cut off to make her full monthly payments. On May 5, 2014, she reported to the JCS
office herself and made he’f final payment to JCS.

109. Because of this probation, Ms. Reynolds was forced to report regularly to the JCS
office for approximately 15 months, between February 2013 and May 2014. In éddifion to her
court fines and fees, she paid JCS approximately $610 over that time.

110. Ms. Reynolds still struggles with her health and lives paycheck to paycheck, often
failiﬁg to pay all of her bills each month. If she were to receive any tickets in the City of
Clanton, she would be unable to pay them immediately and fears returning to JCS.

111. ‘D.uring her time on JCS, Ms. Reynolds wasv never told that she could lower her

- payment or seek to have the JCS fee waived because of her financial status, even though she told
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JCS employees repeatedly that she had f/efy limited inéome, due in part to her medical condition.
JCS never offered Ms. Reynolds assistance in ﬁﬁdi‘ng a better job. |

112, During her time on JCS, Ms. Reynolds felt compelled to pay the set-up fee and
the monthly fee charged by JCS out of fear that if she did not do so, she would be incarcerated.
She further feared that if she did not pay the amount owed, that JCS would initiate a probation
revocation hearing against her (as they did in January 2014), and that at that hearing JCS would
not tell the Judge anything about her efforts to pay, her health conditions, or het lack of income
(which was also exhibited by what JCS included, and did not include, in the probation revocation
notice it gave her).

ii. Plaintiff Rodney Ware

113. Plaintiff Rodney Ware is a 45-year-old African—Anﬁrican ma;n who resides in
Clanton, Alabama. Mr. Ware has resided in Clanton for thost of his life, and currently lives with
his wife and son. He is very invested in his cormhunity and coaches his son’s football team.

114,  Mr. Ware received tickets for speeding and for driving without iﬁswancé on
December 29, 2010. He appeared in Clanton Municipal Court on March 22, 2011, and pled
guilty on these charges. He was assessed $340 in fines and $297 in court costs, for a total
amount of $637.

© 115.  While in court, Mr. Ware was worried that he would be sent to jail immediately,
as he had been t‘ol_d'l’)y friends and family thét thls h_appeﬁs in Clanton Municipal Court if you
cannot pay.

116. Mr. Ware did not have an attorney to ?epresent h1m at this hearing, and Jﬁdge-

Jackson did not ask if he wanted an attorney appointed for him.

~
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il

117. Mr. Ware\ was asked. by Municipal Court Judge Jackson if he would be able to pay
the entire amount that day, or if he would prefer a payment plan. Judge Jackson.made no
inq'uiries. into Mr. Ware’s ability to p.ay, and did not offer him an option of community service.

118. Mr. Ware stated that he did not has}e enough money and thus would need a
payment plan. | Judge Jackson féferred Mr. Ware to JCS. Judge Jackson did not discuss the terms
of being assigned to JCS, did not explain that the Order of Probation would require an additional
morithly payment of $40 (plus an initial $10 set-up fee) or explain that he was being put on
. “probation.” Judge Jackson did not speak to Mr. Ware again on that day. |

119. Mr. Ware went, as directed, to speak to JCS. He met with a’n. émployee from JCS
and the Municipal Court Clerk in the Clanton Municipal Court building. Neither person asked
Mr. Ware anythmg about his income, resources, or costs and expenses. The_y told him that he
would have to pay $145 per month. Neither person told him that the monthly amount could be
set lower or that the fee could be waived, depending on his ability to pay.

120. The JCS employee told Mr. Ware to sign the Order of Probation, and he did so.

121. The JCS employee tbld Mr. Ware to report to JCS’s office in Colmnbiaha for his
first appointment on March 29, 201 1.. The office was approximately 30 minutes from Clanton
and 20 minutes from his workplace.

122. The JCS employee told Mr. Ware that JCS could revoke his probation if he
‘ ~missed an appointf,nent or payment. The drderi of probation that'he‘ was given. also states, “You
are subject to arrest for violation of any condition imposed by this order, and your probation may -
be r”evéke_d accordingly.” |

123. Mr. Ware came to his first appointment on March 29, 2011, with the $50 that he

was able to pull together in that week by skimping on other expenses like gas for his vehicle.
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JCS applied $40 to their own probation fees and only $10 to his court costs. They set h1m
. another appointment in a week and a half, and told h1m to bring more money.

124. In May 2011, JCS imoved to ‘its current location in Jerhison—about 20 minutes
from Mr. Ware’s job. Though the office loca_t_i‘oﬁ changed, the general practices were the same,
and many of the staff were the same. Mr. Ware reported to the Jemison office after it opéned.

125.  Mr. Ware would often be told to report every week, as he was not able to bring a
full bayment each time. JCS employees often applied his fust'paylnénts towards their own fees,
as they did at his initial appoiﬁunent.¢ |

126. Mr. Ware finished his payments to JCS on the two tr_a_fﬁc ticket_s in September
2011, | { |

127. Later that same month, in September 2011, Mr. Ware contacted the Clanton
Municipal Couit. He had received a check in the mail made oit to him for $988.50 that
purported to be a legitimate grant, as had some of his family and friends, but in fact was a scam.
He cashed it in approximately July 2011, hoping to use the much-needed assistance to catch up
on JCS payments, as well as other outstanding bills that had been neglected while he was trying
to pay JCS. He had since learned that the checks were fraudulent and thaf the others who had
cashed these checks were being charged with misdemeanors. He called, and then went to the
Municipal Court to inquire about how he should proceed in repaying the money and avoid an -
arrest or conviction, \

128. The Municipal Court Clerk informed Mr. Ware that he could repay the $988.50
check, a $30 bad check fee, and a $100 collection fee to avoid prosecution. He informed the -

clerk that he did not have the money to pay that day, and she told him that he could pay JCS

instead. Though he was not sentenced, he was put on “pay-only probation” with JCS and told
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again to pay JCS a moﬁthl_y fee of $40 and a $10 set-up fee.

129.  He finished this probation term in November 2012.

130. Becauge of these two probations, Mr. Ware was forced to report regularly to the
JCS office for over one and aha_lf years, between March 2011 and quember 2012. He paid JCS
approximaté‘ly $820 over that time.

131. When he would report, JCS employees required Mr. Ware to sign in when he
arrived, and hé would Be told to wait in the waiting room with many other pérsons on probation
before he was called back to meet with a JCS employee.

132.  While wa_iting in the waiting room for his appointments; often for 20 minutes or
- more, he would sée Defendant Rayﬁond threaten other I-Jersons on probation. On multiple
occasions, Defendant Raymond called the police, let them in the back door, and had them arrest
individuals while they were waiting to be called back for their appointment. Defendant
Raymond would also carry around a pair of handcuffs, -which he would visibly display to persons
who were waiting in the office. These events reinforced Mr. Ware’s belief that if he did not pay
what was demanded, he could be incarcerated.

133.  The actual appointments with the JCS employees—excluding the 20-minute
waiting peﬁod#Were always brief. The JCS employee would usually ask something ﬁke, “How
much do you have to bay today?” The employee would not ask any questions about his life, his
financial situation, or why he was struggling to make payments. The employee would tell him to
bring more money while thre‘ateﬁing to bring him back to court if he did not pay. The employee
would then give him a receipt, which would have his next appointment date.

134. Mr. Ware heard from many others on probation with JCS that going back to éouﬁ

meant going to jail. People told him that Defendant Raymond would tell the court you were not
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paying or showing up, even if you had been trying, and that the court alwéys sided with JCS.
Neither JCS nor the court ever explained that, if he went back to court, his ability to pay would
be a critical issue in the proceeding, and that he could not go to jail if he was unable to pay the
amount owed despite his best.effor'ts to get that money.

1_33. During the time he was reporting to JCS, Mr. Ware was vx/'ork‘ing in Calera,
operating a forklift. Mr. Ware worked until api)roximately 4:00 p.m. every weekday, and
sometimes later if cleanup took longer than normal. It was hard for him to make it to either the
Columbiana or Jemison JCS office before they closed, and he would often have to try to leave
early from work. - Mr. Ware asked JCS 'to gilve him later appointments because Qf his work
schedule, but JCS employees told them that they could not help him by altering the time. He
sometimes had to ask his wife or mother to drive to thé office to make payments for him.” The
official hours of the office were initially until 5:00 p.m., and later until 4:30 p.m., and when he
would go himself and arrive at 4:10 or 4:15 p.m., he would often find the doors locked. One
time, he arrived around 4:00 p.m. and the outside door was open, so he went into ‘t_he waiting
area. He and oﬂlers there that day could hear JCS employees in the back of the office, but the
JCS employees refused to see him becat_ise he arrived too late.

136.  JCS would call his employer when he was not able to make his appointments or
payments. When he would try to call back, he was rarely able to speak with anyoné. Often, he
would reach a pre-recorded message saying that-they were unable to re‘séhedule appointmetits
over the phone.

137.  During this time, Mr. Ware and his wife were struggling financially.® His v}ife lost
her job in October 2011, and was r‘eceiying unemployment through December, when she féund a

job at a fast food restaurant. Mr. Ware and his wife were working to support themselves and two
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dependent children living with theni, while Mr. Ware also paid child support for two other
children.

138.  JCS never told Mr. Ware that he could request a lower payment from JCS or the
Court. JCS ever explained that, if he went back to court, his ability to pay would be a critical
issue in the proceeding, and that he could not go to jail if he was unable to pay the amount owed
despite his best effbns to get that money.

139.  Mr. Ware felt that he had to pay the full amount owed, including the $10 set-up
fee and $40 monthly fee to JCS, because he feared he would likely be ir;/carcerated if he did not
keep up with his payments. Incarceration would have been devastating, as he would have risked
loﬁing his employment if that had occurred. To ensure that he was able to satisfy JCS, as well as
to pay for the. gas to get to their offices every Qeek, Mr. Ware took extraordinary and ﬁnan‘ci‘ally
damaging steps, including skipped paying power bills and making partial payments on many
bills; going without lunch while at work; and taking out high-interest loans to try to make ends
meet. |

140. Mr. Ware eventually was forced to file for Chapter 13 bankruptcy in April 2012,
in the middle of his secbnd probation period.

ii.  Plaintiff Edward “Tylee” Williams

141.  Plamtiff Ed&md “Tylee” Williams is a 29-year-old African-American man who
resides in Clanton, Alabama. Mr. Williams has resided in Clanton for the last three years, and
has family who has lived in Clanton for a long time.

142.  Mr. Williams appeared in the Clanton Municipal Court on May 6, 2014, and pled
guilty to tickets related to speeding and to having an oper container in the car. Municipal Court

Judge Jackson sentenced him to a fine and costs of $275, and asked Mr. Williams if he wanted to
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pay the fine thét day or instead be put on a “payment‘ plan.” Judgev Jackson offered no other
alternatives, such as community service. Mr. Williams requested the payment plan, '

143.  Judge Jackson did disclose that this would require a payment .‘of $140 per
month—which was more than half of the $275 that Mr. Williams said he could not pay on that
day. Judge Jackson did not ask Mr. Williains anything about his income, resources, or costs and
expenses, and did not tell him 1’7hat the monthly amount could be set lower or that the fee could be
waived, depending on his ability to pay. Judge J é’ckson did not discuss any of the terms of being
assigned to JCS, did not explain that the Order of Pfobation would require a $40 monthly
payment to JCS, did not explain that there would be an initial $10 set-up fee, and did not explain
that he was being put on “probation,” Judge Jackson did not speak to Mr: Williams again on that
- day. |

144. Mr. Williams did not have an attorney to represent him at 'tﬁis hearing, and Judge
Jackson did not ask if' he wante;d an attorney to be appointed for him.

145. Mr. Williams was then taken by a bailiff to the office of JCS in the courthouse.
He met with JCS employee Ms. Hamby, who told Mr. Williams that he would have to pay $140
per month, and that he Would have to go to the JCS office in Jemison for his first appointment in
one week, on about May 13. Ms. Hamby filled out the Order of Probation, and had Mr.
Williams sign it. The form stated that Mr. Williams must pay $140 per month (plus an
additional $10 initial fee), must report as instructed to JCS, aﬁd provided that “You are subj ect to
arrest for violation of any condition imposéd by this order, and your probation may be revoked
accordingly.;’

146. | Ms. Hamby did not ask Mr. Williams anything about his income; resources, or

costs and expenses, and did not tell him that the monthly amount could be set lower or that the
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fee cou'ld'bg waived, depending on his ability to pay.

147. Mr. Williams reported to thé Jemison JCS office as directed on May 13, and
brought a payment of ét least $120. Mr. Williams struggled to make this payment, as at the time
he was earning below minimum wage doi’ng odd jobs on a chicken farm. Despite his meager
income, he paid this money because he thought that if he did not do so he could be arrested and
put in jail. JCS sent $80 of this to the Municipal Court, keeping the remaining amount for Mr..
Williamé’ probation fee. |

148..  Mr. Williams continued reporting to the JCS Jemison office, but he had no money
to c,ontinué making payments because he was between jobs, or was making very little income
from a position acquired through a temp agency. He eventually stopped répoﬂi‘r'lg because the
only thing he was told by JCS when he did report was that he had to bring in more money ér ihc
would be in violation of his probation, and he did not have any money to bring in.

149. JCS sought to have Mr Williams’ probation revoked on June 20, 2014. In the
petition seeking revocation, JCS stated that $195 was still outstanding on Mr. Williams’ tickets.
JCS did not report anything to the Municipal Court about Mr. Williams’ income or ability to pay,
nor anything about the total amount JCS had collected for"its.elf.

150.  Mr. Williams did not receive notice of the hearing on the petition to revoke his
probation.

151. On July 15, 2014, Municipal Court Judge Jackson revoked Mr. Williams’
probation after Mr. Williams failed to appear in court: judge Jackson signed an arrest warrant
for Mr. Williams, specifying a cash bond of $195.

152. Mr. Williams was arrested on July 19, 2014, and ileld in the Chilton County Jail.

He remained in the Chilton County Jail for three days, until July 22, 2014.
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153.  On July 22, Mr. Williams was given credit for the three days he had served,
totaling $150 toward the $195 he then owed.. Mr. Williams’ girlfriend paid the remaining $45 to
obtain his release. In order to obtain this money, Mr. Williams’ girlfriend had to borrow money
from multipl_e meémbers of her family, who were also struggling to survive on small incomes.

154. On July 22, while still incarcerated, Mr. Williéms also pled guilty in Clanton
Municipal Cou;_t oﬁ two tickets for driving with a suspended license and a ticket for speeding.
The total fines, fees, and costs were $i,332, plus an additional $450 for failing to aﬁpear
previously on these tickets. Mr. Williams did not have an attorney to represent him at this
hearing, and Judge Jackson did not ask if hek wanted an attorney to be ‘éppointed for h1m

155.  During this hearing, Judge Jackson again asked Mr. Williams if he would pay the
full amount that day or use a payment plan. | Mr. Williams, having no ability to pay the full
amount and already serving time in jail for not being able to pay his last ticket, again selected the
payment plan. He was told to report to JCS in Jemison on about July 29.

156. = Mr. Williams repoited on about July 29 to JCS. He was require& by JCS to'pay
$140 pef month, plus a $10 set-up fee. He péid $120 that day. Mr. Williams could not afford
this, and was able to pay this money orily by discontinuing his cell phone, which was his only
consistent means of communication with his employer and family. He paid this amount because
he feared that if he did not do so he would be jailed, as he had been before. JCS aQCepted this
payment, taking for i,ts‘.elf.‘ the $10 set-up fee and the $40‘monthly fee, and érediﬁng the remaining
$70 to Mr. Williams’ court debts. JCS did not ask him ‘any‘ questions about his income or
employrhent, it simply accepted his money, told him it was not enough, and told him when to
report next. Because Mr. Williams did not pay the full amount, he was ordered to r_epdrt again

on August 8, and was directed to bring with him a full payment for that month.
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157. Mr. Williams reported again on August 8, _péying the full $140. Mr. Williams
could not afford this, and was able to pay this money by falling behind on other bills and
continuing to live with his paternal graﬁdmothe‘r in order to combine finances to save on
‘expenses. He paid' this amount because he feéred that if he did not do so he would be jailed, as
he had been before. JCS did not ask him any questions about his income or employment; ‘it
simply accepted his money and t‘old him to report a month later.

158. Mr. (Williams was not able to keep up these large payments, and started making
smaller payments from $10 to $50. This amount was still a subsfantial hardship for Mr.
Williams, who continued to sfruggle to make ends meet in order to make these payments.

159. When Mr. Williams made these smaller payments, he asked his girlfriend to bring
the money to JCS on his behalf. Mr. Williams did so because he feared that he would likely be
arrested and jailed i:f he showed up himself, because he was not paying the full amount JCS
demanded. JCS always accepted the smaller payments, keeping -about half of thi‘s money for
itself and transferrmg the remainder to the Municipal Court. But finally JCS told his girlfriend
that Mr. Williams had to report himself to JCS or else he wduld be sent back to court and be -
incarcerated. |

160. 'When Mr. Williams appeared himself, he was repeatedly told that he would have
to pay more, or else he would be sent back to cbuﬁ and to jail. Mr. Williams believed these
threats because he had been jailed b‘efbre, and knew‘ of others who had been incarcerated for not
paying their tickets.

161. During his time on JCS, Mr. Williams was never told that he could lower hlS
payment or seek to have the JCS fee waived because of his dire financial status, even though he

told JCS employees that he was working but had very limited income. JCS never offered Mr.
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Williams assistance in finding a better job. JCS never even informed Mr. Williams of the
existence of a job board in.th_eir offices. |

162.  During his time on JCS, Mr. Williams felt comp'elled to pay the set-up fee and the
monthly fee charged by JCS, out of . fear that if he did not do so,.he would be incarcerated, as he
was one time. He furthe‘r' feared that if he did not pay the amount owed, that JCS would initiate a
probatién revocation hearing against him (which they did do one time), and that at that hearing
JCS would not tell the Judge anything about his efforts to pay or his lack of income.

163. In the past 7 months, from July 2014 through January 2015, Mr. Williams was
able to scrape together $525 in payments towaid the Clanton Municipal Court. In the same time,
he was compelled to pay $280 in payments to JCS,

164. Mr. Wiili‘ams remains on JCS, still must pay JCS $40 per month, and still owes
the Municipal Court $1,257.

165. In early 2015, Mr. Williams injured his Achilles tendon. As a result of this, JCS
- finally berr’nitte’:d Mr. Williams a slight reprieve; JCS still required Mr. Williams to report
‘regularly, but so long as he brought in a note from the doctor showing that he was continuing to

get treatment, JCS ceased collecting fees from Mr. Williams. Howevér, Mr. Williams was never
given such an option solely because of his inability to pay.
V. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF
FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
. - DAMAGES 4 7 N
RACKETEER INFLUENCED AND CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS ACT
‘ 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) & (d)
Plaintiffs versus Private Probation Defendants
166. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by _refefence each and every | allegation

contained in the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
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167.  Plaintiffs’ claims under the Racketeer Inﬂueri‘ced ‘and Corrupt Organizations Act,
18 USC §§ 1961-68 (“RICQO”), are brought against the Private Probation Defendants.

168. Plaintiffs are “peisons” with standing to sue within the meaning of 18 U.S.C.
§§ 1961(3) and 1964(c). -

. 169.  Defendant JCS is a “RICO person” within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1963(1)
‘because it is an entity capable of holding a legal or beneficial interest in property.

170, Defendant Raymond is a “RICO person” within the meaning of 18 U.S.C.
§ 1963(1) because he is capable of holding a legal or beneficial interest in property.

171. This claim for relief is directed against the Private Probation Defendants only and
is not directe<i against Defendant City of Clanton.

A. The RICO Enterprise

172. The Private Probatioii Defendarits, together witvh‘the City of Clanton and the
Clanton Municipal Court, constitute an association-in-fact, and therefore an enterprise within the
meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1961(4). Such RICO Enterprise is an ongoing business felationshjp with
the common pﬁrposes of maximizing the collection of court fines, court costs, and fees to JCS
without consideration of the individual’s ability to pay.

.1_73. The RICO Enterprise is engaged in interstate commerce in that its activities and
transactions relating to the collection of fines, fees, and costs, and the movement of the profit
received by Defendant JCS puréuant to this operation, frequently requires movement and
communications across state lines.

174. The members of the RICO Enterprise functiqn as a continuing unit.

175. | The Private Probation Defendants have Violat_ed 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) because they

are associated with an enterprise (the association-in-fact of the Private Probation Defendants,
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together with the City of Clanton and the Clanton Municipal Court) that is enéaged in, or the
activities of which affect, interstate commerce and have, directly or indirectly, conducted or
participated in the conduct of an enterprise’s affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity.
176. ‘The Private Probation Defendants have violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) because they
have conspired With each other to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), as described in the previqus
paragraph.
| 177.  Specifically, the Private Probation Defendants conducted or participated in and
conspired to gonduct the affairs of the RICO .Enterpri'se by engaging in the following predicate
acts of racketeering activity under 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1):
a. Extortion in violation of the Hobbs Act, 18 U.s.C. § 1951;
b. Extortion in violation of Ala. Code § 13A-8-13; and
c. E‘xtortion in violation of the .Travel Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1952.
B. Prédicate Acts

Extortionate Acts.Generally

178. The Private Probation Defendants havé, on their own and in conspiracy with the
other participants in the RICO Enterprise, obtained "by threat a.$10 set-up fee and $40-per-month
probation fee from Plaintiffs, Wifh intent to deprive them of this money.

179.  Specifically, Private Probation Defendants, individually and in conspiracy with
. the other participants in the RICO Enterprise, threatened Plaintiffs that if they do not agree to
pay the set-up and monthly fees that they: (a) will be incarcerated; (b) will have their probation
revokéd; (©) ‘v.vill be accused by JCS of violating the Order of Probation; and (d) will face
testimony by JCS against them regarding non-payment, but without revealing the reasons for
non-payment (including an inability to pay).

180. The threats described in paragraph 179 are inherently wrongful.
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181. The th_réats described in paragraph 179 are wrongful b.ecause they are motivated
out of a desire to extort.

182. Thé threats described in paragraph 179 are wrongful because, as a matter of law,
the fees were being charged pursuant to an illegal contract between JCS and the City of Clanton.

i83. Because of the threats desc}ribed in paragraph 179, Plaintiffs paid the fees
demanded by JCS.

Extortion iii violation of the Hobbs Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1951

184. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference the general Extortionate Act
allegations appearing in Paragraphs 178 to 183.

185. The Private Probation Defendants have, individually and in conspiracy with the
other participénts in the RICO Enterprise, obtained fees from Plaintiffs with their consent, which
consent has been induced by the wrongful use of fear, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1951 (Hobbs
Act).

186. | The proceeds of Private Probation Defendants’ extortionate activities were used in
commerce, and therefore affected commerce or the movement of any article or commodity in
commierce, as these terms are understood by 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a).

Extortion in violation of Ala. Code § 13A-8-13

187. Plaintiffs re-allege and incofporate by reference the general Extortionate Act
allegaﬁions appearing in Paragraphs 178 to 183.

188. The Private Probation Defendant/s have, on their own and in éo_nspiracy with the
other participants in the RICO Enterprise, obtained by threat fees from Plaintiffs, with intent to
deprive them of this money, in violation of Ala. Code § 13A-8-13.

Extortion in violation of the Travel Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1952

189. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference the general Extortionate Act
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allegations appearing in Paragraphs 178 to 183.

190. The Private Probation Defendants have, individually and in conspiracy with the
other participants in the RICO Enterprise, obtained by threat fees from Plaintiffs, with intent to
deprive them of this money, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1952 (Travel Act) and Ala. Code § 13A-
8-13.

'191. The Private Probation Defendants have traveled in interstate commerce, and have
used the mail and facilities in interstate commerce to distribute the proceeds of the extortionate
scheme, specifically by operating a corporate entity (JCS) that is‘ ba}sed outside of Alabama but is
operating the extortionate activities described herein within Claﬁt()n, Alabama, in violation of 18
U.S.C. § 1952(a)(1).

The Private Probation Defendanfs have traveled in interstate commerce, and have used
the mail and facilities in interstate commerce to otherwise promote, manage, establish, carry on,
or fab‘ilitate the promotion, management; €stablishment, or carrying oh, of an. extortionate
scheme, speciﬁ'éally by operating a corporate enﬁity (JCS) that is based outside of Alabama but is

_operating the extortionate activities described herein within Clanton, Alabama, in violation of 18
U.S.C. § 1952(a)(3). |

C. Pattern of Related Racketeering Acts

192. The Private Probation Defendants and the other participants in the RICO
Enterpﬁ'Se have e;ngaged in the racketeering activity described in this Claim repeatedly starting in _
about February 2009 and continuing thrqugh the present with respect to thousands of criminal
deféndants in the Clanton Municipal Court. These racketeering acts are part of the enterprise’s

regular way of doing business.

-193.° The Private Probation Defendants and the other participants in the RICO
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Enterprise, through the ‘RICO Enterprise, relied on the racketeering acts described in this
Complaint to conduct the regular business activities of the RICO Enterprise.

194. The racketeering acts of the Private Probation Defendants and the other
participants in the RICO Enterprise have a similar purpose: - to maximize the collectioﬁ of court
fines, court costs, and fees to JCS without consideration of the individuai’s ability to pay.

195. - The racketeering acts of Private Probation Defendants and the other participants
in the RICO Enterprise have yielded similar results and caused similar injuries té Plaintiffs:
Plaintiffs have, inter alia, all been subjected to fees paid to Defendant JCS as é result of Private
Probation Defendants’ unlawful conduct.

‘196; As set forth in the .prece_ding paragraphs, the racketeering acts have similar
participants: Private Probation Defendarits and the other participants in the RICO Enterprise.

197. As set forth inl the preceding .pa;ragraphs, Private Probation Defendants and the
other participants in the; RICO Enterprise, through the RICO Enterprise, dkected their
racketeering activities at similar victims: Plaintiffs specifically, and also more generaily all
Clanton Municipal Court defendants who cannot afford to pay the entirety of their fines, fees,
restitution, and costs on the date that _they are adjudicated and assigned fines, fees, costs, and
restitution.

| 198. As set forth in the preceding patagraphs, the racketeering acts of Private
Probation Defendants and the other participants in the RICO Enterprise have similar methods of
commission, namely: extorting Plairitiffs specifically, and more generally all Clanton Muqicip_al
Court defendants who cannot afford to pay their entire fifie, fees, restitution, and costs on the |

date they are adjudicated and assigned, into paying probation fees to JCS.
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D.  Injury

199. As a direct and proximate result of Private Probation Defendants’ and the other
participants in the RICO Enterprise’s willful, knowing, and intenfional acts discussed in this
Claim, Plaintiffs have vsufferedr injuries to their property. Plaintiffs have all been subjected to
probation fees paid to Defendant JCS, and have been forced to continue paying these fees even
when they cannot afford to do so, re_sulting in economic ham‘l to themselves and their families.

| 200.. Plaintiffs are entitled to an award of damages in an amount to be determined at
 trial, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees and costs associatéed with this action.
SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
DAMAGES _
. ABUSE OF PROCESS
Plaintiffs versus Private Probation Defendants

201.  Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference each and every allegatioﬁ
contained in Paragraphs 1 to 165 as if fully set forth herein.

202. The Private Probation Defendants abused the process of probation in Clanton
Municipal Court by using the probation order granting them aut_hority. to supervise probation to
extort money from Plaintiffs for their own profit.

203. The Private Probation Defendants intentionally used the probation orders in this .
way, by threatening Plaintiffs, failing to give Plaintiffs full information about their due pfoccés
and other rights, and failihg to provide a procesS for evaluating or presenting indigency to the
court when Plaintiffs were unable to pay.

204. Plaintiffs are entitled to an award of damages in an amount to be deterr’_n_ined‘at

trial, including punitive damages.
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A

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
VOIDING J CS-CLANTON CONTRACT AS AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL EXCLUSIVE
FRANCHISE
Plairitiffs versus Contract Defendants
205. Plaintiffs re-al'lége and incorporate by reference each and every allegation
contained in Paragraphs 1 to 165 as if fully set forth herein.
206. The contract between JCS and the City of Clanton grants an exclusive franchise
for provision of probation services.
207. The contract was not competitively bid, as required by Ala. Const. Art. I, § 22 and
Ala. Code 1975, §41-16-50.
208. Because the contract was not bid, it is void and unenforceable.
209. Plaintiffs are entitled to a declaration that the contract is void and unenforceable.
210., 'Plaintiffs are entitled to permanent injunction enjoining enforcement of the
contract.
FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

VOIDING JCS-CLANTON CONTRACT AS AGAINST PUBLIC POLICY
Plaintiffs versus Contract Defendants

211. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate By refer'ence each and evéry allegation

d.contained in Paragraphs 1 to 165 as if fully set forth herein.

212.  The contract between JCS and the City of Clanton violates public policy because
it requires the cilarging of a probation feé, in direct contradiction to state law which does not
permit a probation fee in municipal court.

213. . Municipal courts may only impose monetary penalties of fines and court costs,
and only those that are expressly provided by law. Ala. Code §§ 11-45-9(a), 12-19- 153(a) The

probation statute does not authorize such a fee to be charged. Ala. Code § 12-14-13(d).
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214. Because the contract violates public policy, it is void and unenforceable.
215.  Plaintiffs are entitled to a declaration that the contract is void and unenforceable.
- N\

216. Plaintiffs are entitled to permanent injunction enjoining enforcement of the

contréct-.
| . VL PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffsl request the following relief:

a. Declaratory and injunctive relief;

b. Compensatory damages;

c. Treble damages as authorized by RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c);

d. Punitive damages;
€. An award of prevailing party costs, including attorney fees; and
f. Such other relief as the Court deems just and appropriate.

TRIAL BY JURY IS DEMANDED ON FIRST AND SECOND CLAIMS FOR RELIEF.

DATED this 12th day of March, 2015 Respectfu]ly submitted,

[s/ Samuel Brooke ..
On Behalf of Plaintiffs’ Counsel

Samuel Brooke (ASB-1172-L60B)

o Sara Zarnpierin (ASB-1695-S34H)
SOUTHERN POVERTY LAW CENTER
400 Washington Avenue
Montgomery, Alabama 36104
Telephone: (334) 956-8200
Fax: (334) 956-8481
samuel:brooke@splcenter.org
sara.zampiefin@splcenter.org
Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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